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Introduction
In this short essay I will try to outline the development, history would be too grandiose a description, of teaching and research in physics in The University of Hong Kong, and attempt to cast some light on the personalities involved. For half a century it will basically coincide with the history of physics in Hong Kong itself – the only other physics related work being done at the Hong Kong (Royal) Observatory. In the University, some theoretical physics was taught, and still is taught, as part of the Applied Mathematics programmes in the Mathematics Department, and while we will make some attempt to acknowledge these contributions, no attempt at a systematic profiling of the relevant staff members from that department will be made. Rather than pepper the text with them, the Chinese form of all names of members of the teaching staff, where known, is given in a biographical appendix.

There is little mention of physics in published accounts of the University yet the subject has been with the University from the first day – of course – in fact the first lecturer appointed in the University was in physics and there was an endowed chair of physics in the Engineering Faculty as far back as 1914. It is helpful to think of the evolution of physics in the University in four phases. These are, the early establishment phase, the period from about 1925 until the closure of the University brought about by war in 1941, the postwar recovery phase up to the early sixties and the modern period thereafter. 

Physics - the early days

Physics was taught in the Hong Kong College of Medicine, which had been in existence since 1887 and which merged with the new University on its foundation. The University opened in March 1912, and physics was one of the foundation subjects available when teaching started in October of that year, with a position in both the Faculties of Engineering and Medicine, positions it held until the mid-1950s. Of the teachers in the Hong Kong College of Medicine before the merger, most of whom were part time, thirteen transferred to the University Faculty of Medicine. There was a Lecturer in Physics in the College, an Irishman W B A Moore, and although the teacher of chemistry transferred he did not. He was a Medical Officer of Health in the Government and did, however, later serve in the University, at different times as a lecturer in Clinical Obstetrics and as a lecturer in Medical Jurisprudence. It was probably less his obvious versatility than an unfamiliarity with physics in an engineering environment, an important subject in the constitution of the new university, that led to his being overlooked in the transfer. Of the only two full-time member of teaching staff appointed by the University in its first year, one was a Lecturer in Physics, T H Matthewman (M.Eng., AMIEE) – occupying the position in both the Engineering and Medical Faculties – the other was the foundation (Taikoo)  Professor of Engineering. In September of 1912 it appears that Matthewman was passing through Hong Kong, having resigned from a position in Nanyang College, Shanghai (the forerunner of Jiaotong University) when he was offered the post.
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Physics was also a subject in the Faculty of Arts when that faculty began teaching in the autumn of 1913, and it was this connection which was to prove the more enduring. The Professor of Engineering, referred to above, was C A Middleton Smith, who, in 1913 with A G Warren, then a lecturer in Engineering at Aston Technical School in England, published what is almost certainly the first publication with a University of Hong Kong byline, (Fig.1), The New Steam Tables – together with their Derivation and Application (London: Constable & Co., 1913). The same A G Warren (B.Sc.(Eng.) London, AMIEE) in the same year, 1913, was appointed Lecturer in Physics in both the Faculties of Arts and Medicine, and simultaneously Lecturer in Machine Design in the Engineering Faculty, Matthewman remaining as the Lecturer in Physics in the Engineering Faculty  in 1913/14.
, although other reports have him promoted to the Chair. Whichever was the case, this arrangement lasted for only a year, for by the beginning of the 1914/15 academic year Warren was promoted to Professor of Physics in both the Arts and Medical Faculties, and moved from his lectureship in Machine Design to an endowed Chair, Ellis Kadoorie Professor of Physics, in the Engineering Faculty, where Matthewman had transferred to Professor of Electrical Engineering. For all of the first thirty years of the University’s existence its financial position was always precarious, sometimes verging on complete bankruptcy. Presumably for this reason (later Sir) Ellis Kadoorie underwrote a `lectureship’ in physics for four years to a tune of $15000 – though why he choose physics over another subject is not known
.

Warren retained his three chairs of physics until 1918, in that year, on Matthewman’s resignation, transferring to the Chair of Electrical Engineering (but he continued to act as Professor of Physics in the three Faculties until the arrival of a new professor in early 1920). Matthewman, after some service in the First World War, seems to have had a chequered career in academia, he was Professor of Electrical Engineering in Belfast, but from there, moved to Lahore and later became Principal of an Engineering College in Trivandrum. 

In 1921, Warren left to do research in the British Military Arsenal at Woolwich. He worked on X-ray photography of metals, and by 1930 he was a Fellow of the Institute of Physics. In 1939 he published a substantial textbook, Mathematics Applied to Electrical Engineering, in a series of monographs on electrical engineering. It appears to have been quite successful, passing through six impressions followed by a second edition (London: Chapman & Hall, 1958).

The only physics staff in the Engineering Faculty for at least part of the 1919/20 academic year was a new ‘Demonstrator in Physics and Chemistry’, one Chan Wing To. No formal qualifications are listed for him, and he had been a demonstrator without portfolio in the Faculty as far back as 1913, also acting as honorary secretary of the HKU Union in the early days. He appears to have remained in the position for two years.
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As is seen from their qualifications, these early physics teachers were basically electrical engineers – not totally inappropriately in view of the central role of electricity and magnetism in the culture of physics at that time, and the fact that any advanced

 teaching of physics they would be required to do was in the Engineering Faculty. But, by the 1920s momentous changes were taking place in the history and culture of physics, and, indeed, Einstein himself paid a visit to Hong Kong in 1922 en route to Japan. An opportunity for the University to become a, small-time, player on the stage arose with the new professor, in all three faculties, D C H Florance (M.A., M.Sc.), who arrived in February 1920. Florance, had been a front line participant in the new physics. Originally from New Zealand, he had published an important paper on gamma-ray interactions in matter in Phil. Mag. in 1910, a paper for which a search in today’s Science Citation Index will still not yield a zero return, (Fig. 2, a 1998 citation). Before the First World War he studied with Rutherford at Manchester, where he was a Demonstrator and Lecturer. In that laboratory, he was one of the illustrious group of workers under Rutherford’s wing, which also included Andrade, Geiger, Marsden, Mosley and others. He may not have been the most distinguished member of this group but the following extract from I B N Evan’s biography of Rutherford, Man of Power, (London: The Scientific Book Club, n.d.) gives an indication of the importance of his work:

  … Guy and Florance examined the gamma-ray scattering from lead and provided from their results the first slight indication of the Compton effect.

We can certainly say that he brought with him to Hong Kong a familiarity with developments in physics well in advance of anyone else around. One doubts that he could have expected to undertake serious experimental research here at the time, something that would have been confirmed on his arrival, and his taking up the post must be seen as a stepping-stone on his eventual return to New Zealand. This he did within a few years, in 1924 becoming Professor of Physics at Victoria University College, Wellington - he had already been somewhat removed from frontline research having volunteered and served four years in the army in the First World War
. As mentioned, Einstein briefly visited Hong Kong in 1922 on his way to Japan, but it seems that his only contact with people here was with members of the Jewish community, and there is no evidence that Florance, or anyone else in the University met him at that time.

Far more important for the long-term development of physics in the University than Florance’s sojourn was the appointment in 1920 of two Demonstrators in Physics and Chemistry in the Engineering Faculty, Chan Chau Lam and Un Po. Chan Chau Lam, or Chan Chak Lam as it appears in several issues of the Calendar and presumably is the same person, became specifically Demonstrator in Chemistry in 1928, from which same year Un Po’s demonstration duties were confined to physics, but now in both the Faculties of Arts and Engineering. Un Po was an Engineering graduate of the University, the first alumnus to be employed, and was to play a pivotal role in the teaching of physics, serving at a later stage as Head of Department. He was in the first intake class into the University, the start of an association that would last on and off for 47 years until his death in 1959. He graduated in 1918 after a lapse of an academic year due to ill health, and taught briefly at Queen’s College before becoming the first graduate to be appointed to the teaching staff of his alma mater. Florance’s departure marks the end of the first phase of the history of the Department.

The evolution of a Department
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The second phase, which lasts up to the Japanese invasion, starts with Florance’s successor as Professor of Physics (in the three faculties), William Faid, appointed in the summer of 1924, (Fig.3). Faid, then aged 30, had a B.Sc. and M.Sc. from the University of Durham (Kings College) and had been a Lecturer in that University before his appointment. 

 There followed the arrival in 1928 of a Lecturer, D F Davies (B.Sc.(London), M.A. (Oxford)), and the continuing employment of Un Po, all of whom were to remain for an extended period, and the Department entered a stable phase. The appointment, in 1933, of a second demonstrator, Hui Pak Mi (B.A.), who hailed from an illustrious South China family – a grandfather was a Ching Viceroy of the provinces of Fujian and Zhejiang – and a graduate of the Arts Faculty, rounded off the team that paved the way for the Department to join the new Science Faculty in 1939. Faid, who was Dean of Arts for a year in 1931, took a lot of interest in running the hostels and acted at different times as Warden of Eliot Hall and of Lugard Hall. From 1934 his wife, Jean, was variously a part-time lecturer and a full-time lecturer on local terms in the Mathematics Department. Until the move to the [image: image4.jpg]


new Northcote Science Building (Fig.4) in September 1941, the complete department was housed on the second floor of the west wing of the Main Building, which also housed the lecture room for Mathematics.

As will be clear from the above, the bulk of teaching of physics during this period was service teaching in the Engineering and Medical Faculties, with mainstream teaching of science students in the Arts Faculty almost incidental. Medical students were required to take physics, lectures and laboratory, in their first year while it was compulsory for engineering students in both their first and second years. Classes in each year were shared, and with Arts students, although there are minor differences in the published syllabi. Service teaching to pre-medical students continued until 1950, after which it became compulsory for all intending students to pass the Advanced-level examination in the subject in the matriculation examination. There were two streams of students in the Arts Faculty who took the subject, a Science Teachers’ stream who studied it in their first two years and had the option of continuing with it in their third year, and an Experimental Science stream who studied it for three years with an option of continuing with it in their fourth year. It was not until 1930 that a student completed the four-year programme, the same Hui Pak Mi later appointed as Demonstrator referred to above.

The New Faculty

As far back as 1913 the Board of the Faculty of Engineering recommended that a Faculty of Science be established ‘as soon as possible’. Senate, at the time, decided to postpone consideration of the matter but decided that the title of the ‘Faculty of Engineering’ be extended to that of ‘Faculty of Engineering and Science’. No such title, however, ever occurs in the Calendars or other University papers. When the Faculty of Science was finally set up in the summer of 1939, the Department, of course, joined it. It then consisted of a Professor, Faid, a Lecturer, Davies, and three Demonstrators Un, Hui and a new appointee, Yue Shui Chiu, an Engineering graduate of 1921 who had previously acted as a Demonstrator in Engineering. According to the Head’s submission to the Vice Chancellor’s Report, during 1939-1940 there were 170 students in the Department, 72 from Medicine, 71 from Engineering and 27 in Science. Of those in Science, one is listed as 4th Year, two as 3rd Year, nine as 2nd Year and the remainder as 1st Year students. This might have led to one graduate in 1940 and two in 1941, but according to recollections there was one Science graduate in 1941 and two in 1942 (in a special War time Congregation). This would all be very consistent with a misreading of 1939-40 in the V.C.’s report for 1940-1941 although it is very explicit there
. The end of the pre-war period is a suitable place to look briefly into the teaching in the Department, and efforts at research.

Teaching - the syllabus

As has been noted, it was the engineering connection that largely determined the day-to-day direction of the Department, and the earliest Calendars state that ‘the standard of the University of London is the standard aimed at by the University of Hong Kong, and its whole organization has been planned to this end’. One can thus assume that the original syllabus was very much modelled on that of the University of London, the Professor of Engineering having come from King’s College and that institution used as a reference for vouching that the standard of the Final Examination was equivalent to their B.Sc.(Eng.). Detailed versions are given in the early Calendars; in First Year it covers the major areas of classical physics under five headings, General Physics (basically, properties of matter), Heat (but no mention of thermodynamics), Light (not including interference or diffraction, but mentioning ‘the velocity of light’), Sound and Magnetism and Electricity (starting with magnetic poles, leading to electrostatics, electromotive force, dynamos, motors, electrical oscillations – but no mention of potential). This First Year syllabus changed little up to the War, a more integrated approach to ‘magnetic and electric charges’ was adopted and the discharge of electricity through gases, Rontgen rays and radioactivity were included, although any mention of ‘the velocity of light’ was removed. The Second Year syllabus had the same headings, and included electric potential, interference, diffraction, polarisation, double refraction, Carnot cycle, absolute temperature (though no explicit mention of thermodynamics), liquefaction of gases and, in the Arts Faculty under the heading of Heat, Quantum Theory (presumably the Einstein-Deby theory of specific heats – there is no mention of, for example, the photoelectric effect in any pre-war syllabus). Third and Fourth Year syllabi simply refer to ‘a fuller treatment …….’. Minor differences exist between that for the engineers (where teaching was for two years) and the Arts Faculty and, latterly the Science Faculty. Early listed textbooks include, for First Year, A Classbook of Physics by Gregory and Hadley and An Intermediate Course of Practical Physics by Schuster and Lee, and for advanced students, A Textbook of Physics Vol. 3 by Poynting and Thompson, General Physics for Students by Edser as well as the Professor’s New Steam Tables. By the mid twenties more familiar titles appear, like Duncan and Starling’s A Textbook of Physics and, for Arts students, Rutherford’s Radioactive Substances, Thompson’s Conduction of Electricity through Gases and Bragg’s X-rays and Crystal Structure. Some extension of the syllabus was made with entry into the Science Faculty, the one for 1941 contains Quantum Theory, Relativity and Atomic Theory in the 4th Year. A major overhaul of the syllabus did not occur until 1954. From the paucity of staff, library facilities and the quality of experimental apparatus available one could hardly expect great sophistication in the syllabus, but H T Huang (黄 兴 宗), the first graduate of the Science Faculty, describes his efforts to repeat Millikan’s oil drop experiment using apparatus constructed in the Department, and also recollects a discussion of the discovery by Hahn and Strassman of nuclear fission in 1938 during the course of a tutorial in the Department in 1941.

Research 

Other than in the Medical Faculty, there was little published research in the pre-war University, and none in the Physics Department. Many factors can account for the lack of serious research activity in these years, lack of students, lack of resources, but not least of them was the small number of staff and the consequent heavy teaching load. The weekly load of 28 hours for the professor of physics in 1928 was not untypical. Support staff were also lacking; as late as 1936 the only other member of the Department, apart from the four teachers, was one coolie – secretarial work presumably falling to the Faculty office. Morale in these matters was not improved by the report of a Government committee set up in 1937 to advise on staffing and organization in the University which concluded that ‘Hong Kong does not obtain and in fact does not require the university professor of such exceptional academic attainments as might claim emoluments on the scale paid for the leading professorial posts in the United Kingdom.’ Excellence was not the top priority. One cannot claim, however, that there was no interest in research. Warren, on his departure could take up a full time research position in the Woolwich arsenal where he worked on X-ray photography of metals, published papers in theoretical mechanics and finally produced his text-book in 1939. Neither Faid nor Davies appear to have brought any particular research interest with them but both were inclined to some work if they could get the time. Davies, in fact, applied for a study-leave extension to his long leave in 1937 with the ambitious hope of furthering his studies in Low Temperature Physics in the Clarendon Laboratory under Lindemann. His application was rejected by Council, in part because of the lack of formal arrangements at that time for such study leave, and possibly because of his lowly status – most recognized research in the University was by professors in the Medical Faculty. Both Faid and Davies became involved with the state-of–the-art radiotherapy equipment acquired by the newly opened Queen Mary Hospital in 1938. Professor Faid, was appointed Hospital Physicist and a member of the Hospital Radiation Centre, while Davies spent an extra three months study leave that year at the Royal Cancer Hospital in London familiarizing himself with the equipment and methods for calibrating radiation doses. 

The War Years

 The future of the Department looked bright with the move into accommodation in the new Northcote Science Building in the autumn of 1941, but, of course, activities came to a halt in December of that year, and the staff went, or were sent on, their various ways in the War.
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At the outbreak of fighting, the University became the University Relief Hospital and Professor Faid was its Lay Superintendent. Together with his wife he was interned in Stanley Camp, where he died, in July 1944, having fractured his skull after falling from a roof – he is still remembered by the William Faid Memorial Prize in Physics awarded annually to the student passing at first attempt the Final B.Sc. examination obtaining the best result in physics. Mrs Faid returned after the War and taught in the Mathematics Department for a few years – she is the only member of staff listed in that department in 1946/47. Davies was part of the Royal Navy Volunteer Reserve and so, as a combatant, became a prisoner of war when captured on the fall of Hong Kong in 1941. He escaped, however, from Shamshuipo Prisoner of War Camp and made his way in the company of the professor of physiology Lindsay Ride – the first postwar Vice Chancellor - into China and on to India where he spent most of the war. Un Po, very early, moved into China and was Associate Professor of Civil Engineering in the National Sun Yat Sen University, at the time in exile in northern Guangdong, moving with them to Guangzhou when the War ended in 1945. Hui Pak Mi escaped to Macau, where he stayed, with his family, but without a job, until the end of the war.

Postwar Recovery

The third phase, which lasts until the mid sixties, started in 1946. Three of the four surviving members of staff returned when the University reopened in 1946. Davies had already returned to Hong Kong as part of the British Military Administration after the Japanese surrender in 1945. However, when he resumed duties in the University in 1946 his workload left little room for physics department concerns as he acted sometimes as Registrar, Dean of Medicine and Dean of Science (Fig. 5). In part due to his contacts with the Administrative Authorities, he was a very influential figure in getting the Institute on its feet again, a fact little noted in the canonical histories of the University. In 1947 he became Professor of Physics and in 1948 Dean of Science. This should have heralded a bright era for the Department, Davies had 20 years experience and he was joined by the equally experienced Hui Pak Mi and Un Po, still demonstrators, in reestablishing the Department. Also appointed around the same time was the first member of staff to hold a doctorate degree, one E O Cook who had a D.Phil. from Oxford. Among the Demonstrators of the time were Miss C P Ling – she returned to China in 1953 – and T S Wang, a part-time Engineering graduate of 1941 who later became well known in Hong Kong, having set up New Method College and opened several other schools. However, facilities immediately after the War were very primitive, for the first two years the Department depended on apparatus borrowed from Wah Yan College to conduct experiments in the First Year laboratory. Most of the effort still went into service teaching for the medics and engineers, but among the first postwar graduates, in 1950, was Chin Ping-Chuen who had a long career in the Hong Kong Observatory. Mr Hui, sensibly, went on leave in 1948 to study for a Ph.D., working under Professor E N da C Andrade at the University of London. Dr Cook within two years left to take up a position in Canada. For many years the staffing situation was very volatile, with some people appointed as temporary part-time demonstrators and temporary assistant lecturers, but it improved with the return of, now Dr, Hui in January 1951 to take up his Assistant Lectureship. He had obtained his Ph.D. degree on the strength of a thesis entitled ‘Viscosity and Density of Supercooled Liquids’. Dr Hui was to be a pivotal figure in the Department until his retirement in 1966, especially contributing to the organization of the Advanced Level Examinations. Although, basically, a retiring individual, who kept a low profile in the running of the Faculty, he was widely read and a great talker when in like-minded company. He regularly composed couplets on the blackboard in the Tea Room in the Northcote Science Building, sometimes to be completed by others of those present. At one stage he was coach of the University swimming team and, apparently a non-swimmer himself, used a text-book for the purpose! His lecture notes, in minute detail, he copied word-for-word on to the blackboard. By spotting newly added paragraphs when compared with notes from the previous year’s class, some students were at an advantage when the examinations came around. The staffing situation, however, was not improved by the departure of Davies in May 1952. His departure, by all accounts, was not entirely voluntary. Although he had shared with Lindsay Ride some of the vicissitudes of wartime, they apparently did not see eye to eye on many matters, and the Vice Chancellor appointed Un Po as Head of Department in May 1952, and Davies was encouraged to leave the University. Un Po and Dr Hui were eventually promoted to Lecturer, and between them managed the department for the two years that the Chair was vacant.
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The chair was taken up in March 1954 by R W Parsons, who had been working on cosmic ray interactions using balloon borne emulsions at the University of Melbourne. His original degree in Electrical Engineering from the University of Adelaide had led him into the field of accelerator design, and he had pursued that field leading to a D.Phil. degree from Oxford for X-ray studies of the binding energy of heavy nuclei in 1951. Within a couple of months of his arrival Parsons had given his inaugural lecture, choosing for his theme the glamour subject of the time, “Some recent developments in Nuclear Physics”. In fact, it was more concerned with what we would now call particle, or high energy, physics, describing balloon borne emulsion techniques and the spate of discovery of new particles around that time. Further evidence of Parson’s dynamism can be seen in the totally rewritten syllabus ready for the Calendar of 1954/55, with a section on Atomic Physics including Bohr’s theory in First Year, and the inclusion of special relativity, wave mechanics and elementary nuclear physics in the degree listing. He bought a neutron source from Harwell, and introduced a selection of experiments on nuclear physics into the teaching laboratories. Harry Massey an M H L Pryce were among the External Examiners appointed around this time and subsequently. Parsons is still remembered for the clarity and conciseness of his printed lecture notes, as well as for the fact that he always was attired in a white shirt and tie but never wore a jacket, (Fig. 6). Through the University Press, he published a booklet, Practical Physics which sold at $8 a copy and had wide distribution; originally written for the Preliminary Science year at the University, it later took on the nature of the bible of A-level students of that time, (Fig. 7).  The results of the revamping of the Department can be seen in the fame gained by a cohort of students who entered the University to study physics, and mathematics, around this time, graduates of the early years of the sixties, many of whom went on to academic careers in their alma mater and elsewhere.  
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Here is a suitable place to look at the teaching arrangements in the Faculty and Department, which were undergoing change around this time. Teaching of medical and engineering students ended by 1954, and the last intake into a Preliminary Science class was in 1957. Up until 1959 a B.Sc. Honours degree was in principle possible by taking an additional year (a total of five years if one included the Preliminary Year), the first to take it in physics - Chik Kin Pong and Kwan Sik Hung, of whom more later - graduated in 1958. After 1959 the honours 
classification was a category in the B.Sc. degree, of three years duration. It is interesting to note that over the period 1960 to 1967 the percentage of First Class degrees awarded to physics majors averaged 11% while that of failures was 13%.  At the same time the fourth year B.Sc.(Special) degree was introduced, the first physics students graduating in 1961.

Compared to departments like Chemistry and Zoology, research in the post-war Department was slow in getting off the ground. Some of the reasons for this may be related to Davies’ abrupt departure, and the lack of focussed leadership for any sustained length of time, which hampered the early development of a research culture in the department. The first serious research was conducted in the department in these years, with Hui Pak Mi (who published under the name of Hu Pak Mi) continuing on with the studies of fluid viscosities that he had started in London. This work resulted in the first refereed publications with the departmental byline, two papers in conjunction with Parsons published in the Journal of Scientific Instruments and Proceedings of the Physical Society (London) in 1957 and 1958. In between these there was a paper, also in the Journal of Scientific Instruments by Chan Yau Wah (Fig. 22), then a demonstrator in the Department, later to go on to a distinguished career in physics - he became a professor at the Chinese University. Parsons eventually returned to his native Australia, to a readership in the University of Queensland, in which University system he remained, working mostly on molecular spectroscopy, until retirement.
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Another two and a half years intervened before a new professor arrived – strictly one and a half years, but for all of his last year in the Department Parsons was on study leave at the University of Saskatchewan on a fellowship awarded by the Canadian Research Council. Already 39 years in the service of the University, Un Po (Fig. 8) died, still in service, in early 1959; along the way he had acquired the unflattering nickname of 元 宝, and an MBE award, and in the end the yellowness of the notes from which he lectured was a measure of how long he had been teaching the material. Under the acting  headship of Dr Hui a much depleted department was reinvigorated later in the year with the appointment of three lecturers, Dr C P Wang, Dr Ian McLean and Miss Mary Blundell, as well as a number of demonstrators. Dr Wang, originally from Malaya, came to us via Chung Chi College; he started a research programme measuring sea level cosmic ray muon intensities. He was promoted to Senior Lecturer after a couple of years. Ian McLean (Fig. 9) was a dashing young Australian and a graduate of Adelaide University, who was to lead a colourful and high profile career in Hong Kong before an untimely and somewhat gruesome demise in the late seventies, after he had left the University. Teaching physics, for which some former students say he had a notable talent, was not his only interest. His entrepreneurial spirit led him to open a small restaurant in Tsimshatsui, which, in its early days, he was known to furnish with benches and stools borrowed from the teaching laboratories at weekends. He later opened a well-known antique shop, and took an interest in physical methods of dating materials. Ms Blundell, a graduate of Manchester University with experience in radiology taught modern physics. Somewhat unconventional in her life style for the times, she had the nickname of 拖姐  (sister slippers) on account of usually giving her lectures in her slippers. She left the Department after a couple of years. Demonstrators, of course were more transitory, but several from this period are still well remembered, for their eccentricity or later fame or both. K E Chiang, familiarly known as 姜 太 公, transferred from Chung Chi College, another, known as 细 林, was renowned for possessing a complete set of rubber stamps for use in marking laboratory reports, including “UNITS”, “Error bars”, “See me about this”, etc.  Two who made careers for　themselves in academic physics were Kwan Sik Hong who later worked at Hong Kong Polytechnic University and Chik Kin Pong, still a Faculty member at the Chinese University. Others from around this time were Lei Wai Yue, Lam Sheung Tsing, Allen Lee, James Watt (who spent more time attending lectures in the Department of Chinese than on his research topic of the acoustic properties of bamboo, he has gone on to become a world recognised authority on Asian art and is currently [image: image10.jpg]


Head of the Department of Asian Art at the Metropolitan Museum of Art in New York) and Tong Yuen Ching. The hardware aspects of physics teaching and research, and even the provision of office furniture, were much more important in those days than has become the case, and three vital members of the technical staff bore the burden. For a number of years they were Big Lam (大 林), in charge of electronic equipment, Mr Tin (田 师 傅) who was responsible for fine instruments and optics, and Lo Wah (劳 华) the carpenter – his son, Lo Fai (劳 耀 辉) is still with us on the technical staff, having already completed over 30 years service. The longest serving of the technical staff was Yip Kam Tong (叶 锦 棠), who started as an apprentice in his youth and had worked his way up to Senior Technician in the Mechanical Workshop before his retirement a few years ago (on the left in Fig. 10, a photo taken in the cosmic ray laboratory in the Aberdeen Tunnel, it also features Lo Wah, C C Lai and L K Ng).

The improved quality of the programme offered, and the available facilities in the Department by the end of the fifties meant that the first postgraduate degree, the Special Honours degree, mentioned earlier, could be introduced. From the first four graduates, in 1961, two, L K Ng and Robert Yu, followed by Enoch Young in the next year, were to play an important part in the later development of the Department.    
The next professor, W Deryk Chesterman arrived in January 1961, followed in September 1962 by another Lecturer, Oulton Walker (Fig. 11), from Brunel University who was to stay with the Department for 31 years. A graduate of Bristol, 1934, Chesterman was a specialist in acoustic methods, especially as applied to oceanography. He was the author of a well-regarded monograph, The Photographic Study of Rapid [image: image11.jpg]


Events (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1951) and an internationally recognized authority on high speed photography. He already held a D.Sc. degree from Bristol, and had spent the previous twenty years with the British Admiralty, but was apparently without experience of running a teaching department. His Inaugural Lecture, in November 1961, was titled ‘Physics and the Study of the Sea’. He devoted quite a bit of it to outlining his plans for the Department, and addressing the Vice Chancellor on the associated costs – there already was a Research Grants Committee in the University, and the total amount it administered that year to be shared among all departments was $41,500. He emphasized the importance of doing research which was unique to Hong Kong, citing his own projected studies of the local continental shelf as well as the low geomagnetic latitude advantages for studying cosmic rays – as noted above, C P Wang was embarking on measurements of muon intensities at the time. He talked about establishing a postgraduate school in Physics and wrote ‘there must be an entirely different concept of the importance of research in our educational plan for the University’ and ‘we shall need to expand the teaching staff (including demonstrators) from the present figure of twelve to a total of seventeen in the next four or five years’. He did have some personal success in getting his marine studies under way – a shoal discovered in the Lamma Channel was named the Chesterman Rock after him. However, the failure to make much progress on the issues he raised, although he was elected Dean of the Faculty in 1965, may account for his departure within five years, invited by the new University of Bath to establish a Marine Geophysics Unit in the School of Physics.

Without slighting Hui Pak Mi’s work on viscosity, which was still in progress, we can say that the first systematic programmes of research in the Department got under way at this time, but before describing these we should take note of other related developments within the University. As a, very, small department, originally with a major commitment to service teaching of medical and engineering students, it was natural, and necessary, that all staff came from an experimental physics background. In the Mathematics Department, however, there always was an applied mathematics stream, in fact in the early days, astronomical topics occur only in the syllabus of the Mathematics Department, and more theoretical topics in physics, like classical mechanics, have always been taught in that department. In the late fifties and early sixties some applied mathematicians were decidedly theoretical physicists, two in particular, Chan Hong-Mo (    ) and Philip Tong Bok Yin ((唐   贤). Chan was an Hons. B.Sc. graduate in mathematics of 1955, who later did a Ph.D. at Birmingham under the supervision of Rudolf Peierls. He was on the staff of the Mathematics Department for a few years thereafter and later had a distinguished career as a high-energy theorist in England and at CERN in Geneva. B Y Tong, a brother of David Tong of whom more anon, was a1957 science graduate, who qualified as a Librarian in California, joined the University Library for a short spell, but eventually returned to the Mathematics Department. He later did a Ph.D. in North [image: image12.jpg]


America and has spent much of his academic career in Canada. Both of these people were actively publishing in theoretical physics at this time, with papers in the Proceedings of the Royal Society, Physical Review, Physics Letters, Nuovo Cimento and Proceedings of the Physical Society. They were influential, as teachers, in guiding some students into a career in physics. There was, later, some important teaching of experimental nuclear physics by teachers in the Radiosiotope unit, established in 1967, although their staff were mainly radiochemists. After 1954, of course, some physics was taught to students in the Engineering Faculty by their own staff. Among those well qualified for the task were a 1963 graduate of the Department, Cheng Yiu Chung (郑 耀 宗) sometime Professor of Electronic Engineering, and later Vice-Chancellor of the University, Francis Newland, a physics graduate from Auckland and, most notably, H C H (Charles) Gurney, poet and Professor of Mechanical Engineering from 1967 to 1973. Gurney had a D.Sc. since 1948 and was a Fellow of the Institute of Physics before he arrived; he took a particular pleasure in trying to teach students the subtler points of thermodynamics.

As we have mentioned C P Wang, although he had done his Ph.D. work on theoretical nuclear physics, started work on cosmic ray measurements using Geiger counter assemblies, a premature start – he left in 1963 – on a topic that would later become a major interest in the Department for more than a quarter of a century. The first Masters degrees for work done in the Department were awarded in 1965, simultaneously to Ng Leung Kai, later to play a major role in the Department and Alan Hinglun Lee, for work done under Wang’s supervision. Ng’s project was the development of an experimental system to study double beta decay which involved the construction of a 64 channel pulse height analyser, while Lee constructed a counter telescope that measured variations in the cosmic ray muon intensity. The first Ph.D. from the department was awarded in 1966 to Chan Yin Lui for a thesis entitled ‘Acoustic Surveys of the sea floor near Hong Kong’. The work was done in Chesterman’s group.

A new programme in studying the ionosphere was started by Oulton Walker, and by 1965, joined by a new Lecturer, Tim Closs, he had an Ionospheric Sounding Station set up at an old army campsite on the top of nearby Mount Davis. The theft of the copper wire used for the aerial was only one of the problems they had to overcome.  This long-lived facility featured a 22 meter high twin delta antenna, with supporting electronics housed in two refurbished bunkhouses – which proudly bore the University’s logo. In addition to direct ionosonde soundings, Walker also used Faraday rotation techniques with signals received from geostationary satellites to probe the electron density in the ionosphere, and investigate especially the ‘equatorial anomaly’ (Fig. 12). 
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Following Chesterman’s departure, Dr Hui was in charge of the Department again, for a period of six months until the new Chair, A. J. Lyon, arrived in January 1967. Arthur Lyon (Fig. 13, in front flanked by Robert Yu and Oulton Walker, with, at back, Harry Coxell, Peter Fung, David Healey, Terry Boyce and Enoch Young) brought with him an interest in the ionosphere that matched up well with the work already under way by Oulton Walker. He had done his postgraduate studies in Edinburgh under the acknowledged guru of ionospheric studies, the Nobel Laureate Sir Edward Appleton, and obtained his Ph.D. there in 1956. For the next 11 years he was at University College, Ibadan in Nigeria, five years as Head of Department, where he had an opportunity to become familiar with the equatorial ionosphere. His Inaugural Lecture, given in November 1967, was titled ‘The Upper Atmosphere at Low Latitudes’. Long, it runs to 11 pages and two plates in the Supplement to the Gazette, it is mainly technical, explaining the nature of the ionosphere and results from the work in Ibadan and the work in progress on Mount Davis. With Oulton Walker and a new lecturer, David Rivers, ionospheric and geomagnetic studies were to last, at various levels of activity, up to  Walker’s retirement in 1993.
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Another line of research that would one day become a major focus in the Department, condensed matter physics, had a somewhat premature beginning with the appointment of James Chang as Lecturer in 1965. He was a graduate of Caltech, and started a programme of measurement of transport properties in magnetic materials, publishing on the planar Hall effect. James, however, had a greater interest in industrial and commercial aspects and left to set up his own electronics factory within four years. His enthusiasm was a major factor in the establishment of the Physical Society of Hong Kong in 1966, which brought together physicists from the two universities and from industry. In those days it often sponsored talks in a downtown hotel; I remember Edward Teller as one of the speakers. The Department was on the threshold of becoming a conventional physics department in the modern sense by the time Hui Pak Mi (Fig. 14, with departmental secretary Terry Villa-Carlos) finally reached retirement age in July 1967, which brought an eventful era to an end. He had been awarded am M.B.E. decoration in 1964, and his long service to physics in Hong Kong recognized by election to Chairman of the Physical Society. He was appointed as an Honorary Research Fellow in the Department on his retirement, but sadly only survived a further year. The P M Hui Memorial Scholarship in the Faculty perpetuates his memory.

Until 1973, and a move to the first and second floors of the Knowles Building, the Department was housed on the ground floor and basement of the Northcote Science Building on Pokfulam Road, a building shared with the departments of Botany and Zoology. Reputed to be haunted as a result of a Japanese massacre – at least one member of staff admits to having felt unease when entering an empty laboratory after dark – it was fitted with a well designed lecture theatre with a large demonstration bench complete with electricity, gas and water. The Department janitor, Chan Sang (陈 生) spent his days and nights there. The days in the Northcote Science Building cannot be recalled without bringing to mind the long serving departmental secretary, Ms Terry Villa-Carlos (Fig. 14), whose infectious cheerfulness over many years did much to enliven the place, and organise the social life of everyone working in the Department.

The Modern Era

A new era began. With qualifications obtained overseas, the first of the cohort of graduates of the early sixties returning to join the Department, Robert Yu (Fig. 13) with a Ph.D. from Bristol, took up appointment as a Lecturer in July 1967. He was followed six months later by Enoch Young (Fig. 13), also with a Ph.D. from Bristol, and a further six months later by L K Ng (invariably known as EN-GEE, Fig. 10) who returned from the University of British Columbia where he had done his Ph.D. in experimental nuclear physics.  Together with those appointed over the next few years, Terry Boyce and David Healey in 1969, Kevin MacKeown and Peter Fung in 1970 and Harry Coxell in 1972 (Fig. 13), they would form the backbone of the Department over the next quarter century. The number of teaching staff, at 10 or 11, remained unchanged over this long period.

A broad range of interests and experience was introduced to the Department at this time. David Healey and Peter Fung were the first theoretical physicists to be taken on board. David, a graduate of London University, had spent some time in West Africa, while Peter had done his Ph.D. work in Hobart and had held post-doctoral appointments at Montreal and Stanford. A paper by him in 1970 in the journal Plasma Physics was the first (of many) theory publications from the Department. Robert Yu and Terry Boyce were experimental solid-state physicists. L K Ng, as I have mentioned, had worked in experimental nuclear physics at UBC, he was particularly competent in electronics, a subject he taught and fostered in the Department for many years – before everything was reduced to chips, the Department housed a sizeable Electronics Laboratory, which also accommodated the Science Faculty electronics technician. Enoch Young had worked on neutrino interactions with D H Perkins at CERN, followed by a post-doc on cosmic ray neutrinos with Arnold Wolfendale at Durham. Kevin MacKeown, ex Dublin and Durham, had worked on cosmic ray interactions at the Tata Institute in Bombay, Louisiana State and the University of Maryland in the United States as well as at the Chacaltaya Cosmic Ray Laboratory in South America. The last to arrive, Harry Coxell, was also a Durham graduate and had worked on different aspects of cosmic rays in England, the Bartol Research Institute in the United States and in a South African goldmine.  

Teaching in the Department underwent some changes around this time, benefiting from the variety of talent around, especially the Fourth Year B.Sc.(Special) degree. Although the number of students was never very great, eight in the year 1969/70 out of a total of 203 students in the Department, it provided an opportunity to expose the students to more than just the superficial aspects of the subject. Regrettably, a Faculty-wide reform of the curriculum was mandated in 1973, which did away with the General and Special degrees, replaced them with the single, so called unit degree, an honours degree spread over three years. Another aspect of teaching that took on a major dimension in those times was the setting, running and marking of the matriculation, A-level, examination. Arthur Lyon, L K Ng and Oulton Walker in particularly put much effort into this, but all members of the Department were caught up in visiting examination sites in the schools and the marking of the, many, scripts every summer.

Research in the Department, apart from that of Peter Fung, who at that time worked on theoretical problems in several fields – astrophysics, plasma physics, quantum theory etc. - lay in three experimental fields, ionospheric/geomagnetic, cosmic rays and solid state. By later standards the research productivity of the time may not seem all that impressive, but the funding of research was at a low level, for example, all the groups in the Department in 1970 shared a total research budget of $78,000 between them. The ionospheric work was largely in the hands of Oulton Walker – Arthur Lyon retired in 1977. Experiments were carried out on Mount Davis, as described earlier. With a succession of graduate students interesting results were obtained on Faraday rotation of signals from geostationary satellites, including, for one year, results from a reception station they set up on Bali, traveling ionospheric disturbances, acoustic gravity waves, complimented by computer modelling of the ionosphere. From 1972, related work monitoring variations in the geomagnetic field was carried out, in conjunction with the Observatory, in a small laboratory set up atop Tate’s Cairn (飞 鹅 山) with the help of David Rivers, who had earlier established a magnetic observatory in Sierra Leone. This continued until 1982, by which time the site was no longer ’quiet’ and major infrastructural projects in the neighbourhood being embarked on caused the work to be abandoned.
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The earliest cosmic ray work also made use of an outstation, admittedly not very far away, in the ‘Cosmic Ray Hut’ on the Filter Beds opposite Ho Tung Hall. A specially designed ‘hut’ was constructed, (Fig. 15), where Enoch Young, but especially L K Ng, built a vertical magnetic spectrograph for measuring muon momenta. The hut was eventually surrounded by an array of counters to study extensive air showers (EAS) in conjunction with the spectrograph. An air Cerenkov detector was also developed. Kevin MacKeown at this time worked in collaboration with several Japanese groups on EAS experiments on Mt Chacaltaya in Bolivia, and later in collaboration with the Whipple Observatory on Mt. Hopkins in Arizona on very high-energy gamma ray astronomy. Solid state research mostly focused on electroluminescence (Robert Yu) and gemology. Compared to later times, the funds available for research, as noted, were very limited, and staff often took the opportunity of Long Leave to attach themselves to overseas institutes   for collaborative research.
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The attraction of Hong Kong as a venue for physics conferences was first tested in 1976, which saw the first international physics conference in Hong Kong. Largely sponsored by the Department, it was entitled the Asian Cosmic Ray Symposium on Secondary Cosmic Rays (Fig. 16). Among the 32 participants were delegates from India, Japan, Singapore and Taiwan. Some years later, in 1984, the 7th International Symposium on Equatorial Aeronomy, attracting over 70 participants from ten countries was organized by the ionospheric group. Such physics related conferences are now a regular feature in Hong Kong.
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Shortly after Arthur Lyon’s departure Terry Villa-Carlos emigrated to California, she was followed by a string of dedicated secretarial staff, Lozuna Liu, Lily Choi, Ester Hui, Anna Sze, Eva Wong, … (Figs. 17, 18). Yu Wing Yin (Fig. 19) was appointed Lecturer around this time. Oulton Walker acted as Head of Department until the arrival of the new professor, D J Newman. Doug Newman, who came to us via the Institute of Advanced Studies of ANU having earlier taught at Queen Mary College of the University of London, took up the Chair of Physics in January 1979 (Fig. 19). His arrival heralded a new emphasis in the Department; for one thing, in contrast to all previous heads, he was very much a theoretician – he had actually done his undergraduate degree in mathematics – with a particular interest in group theory – he had co-authored a small book on the subject - with applications to crystal field theory in particular. He also brought with him a conviction of the importance of research and publication in the department. It was the department’s first introduction to the modern ‘physics culture’ and, not surprisingly, it was not entirely enthusiastic in embracing it, and some stormy episodes were to follow. His Inaugural Lecture, The Scientific Future, given in October 1980 dealt, in general terms, with the nature of scientific progress, its future development and its role in human progress. 
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Newman’s own research field bloomed in the 10 Years he was in the Department, with a succession of talented graduate students, and especially with the arrival of a new lecturer, M F Reid, in 1985. Mike Reid (Fig. 20), who returned to his native New Zealand in 1992, was of a new generation, fully at home in the modern ‘computer culture’ and, aided by the technician Yip Kin Hang (叶 建 恒), did much to bring the Department into the cyber age. Traditional fields also flourished, the continuing ionospheric work on Mount Davis, new cosmic ray studies initiated by L K Ng, of sidereal variations using a large array of gas proportional counters in an underground laboratory in a cross-arm of the Aberdeen Tunnel and the beginnings of a collaborative experiment on EAS with Yunnan University on Mount Liang Wang, near Kunming (Fig. 21). The start of the rapid rise in research publications beginning around this time can be seen the figures collected in appendix II.

The ‘old guard’ were beginning to thin out, Robert Yu left in 1984 and Enoch Young in 1988. The beginnings of a new phase in the history of the Department can be seen in the latter part of Newman’s tenure, with the appointment of three new lecturers, S F Fung in 1984, C D Beling in 1987 and K S Cheng in 1988 (Fig. 20). Steve Fung, the first legally blind student to graduate in physics at Oxford and Chris Beling, was a graduate of Oxford and London. Through their work using positrons, especially setting up the Positron Beam Laboratory, they reinvigorated the condensed matter programme, which was eventually to come to such prominence in the Department. K S Cheng, a graduate of Chinese University and Columbia, was a theoretical astrophysicist destined to make rapid progress up the academic ladder.
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Doug Newman, who married one of the graduate students, Betty Ng (吴 洁 贞), left a year ahead of retirement, in 1989. At his farewell reception he gave a valedictory address, of which no written record is to hand, but which those present on the occasion will not readily forget.

Peter Fung throughout these years had been very active in theoretical research, and gained a personal chair in 1984. On the discovery of high temperature superconductivity in the late eighties, Peter diversified into experimental physics, setting up a laboratory to study this topic, as well as photoacoustic phenomena that would eventually lead him into medical physics research. He acted as Head of Department during the period between 

Doug Newman’s departure and the appointment of a new chair professor. In April 1990 the Chair was taken up by Chau Wai Yin. Professor Chau (Fig. 22) was the first alumnus to hold the Chair. He had been Head of the Department of Applied Physics at the Hong Kong Polytechnic, while on secondment from Queens University in Canada, where he was a professor of Physics, prior to his appointment. He had graduated in the Mathematics Department and done a PhD at Columbia, later working on theoretical astrophysics. He was a popular Head of Department, ever conscious of the need for high morale among all levels of staff in the Department and his, ambivalent, decision to return to Canada after only two years was regretted by many.
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Peter Fung again took over as Head. Major changes occurred in the Department around this time, a great turnover of staff, a move into new accommodation, the introduction of a unit based degree programme in the Faculty and a new emphasis on postgraduate teaching. L K Ng, who had been associated with the Department in one way or another since 1957, having seen through the planning for a new physics building, retired in 1993 and moved to Canada. In the same year Oulton Walker finally retired to England; apart from his devotion to the Advanced Laboratory and monitoring the ionosphere, his hosting of an annual Christmas party in the, now demolished, old house on University Path (and later in ‘Buckingham Palace’ on University Drive) was one of the Department’s social events of the year. Harry Coxell retired the next year and Dave Healey left in 1995. With the departure of these ‘old timers’ the complexion of staff also changed. The first lecturers with qualifications from a mainland University, two condensed matter physicists, Z D Wang a theoretician who studied at Hefei and Nanjing, and J Gao an experimentalist and a Peking University graduate who did his doctorate in the Netherlands, joined the Department in 1992.

The Department was on the move again in 1994, from the Knowles Building to a new purposely built Physics building, the Chong Yuet Ming Physics Building – although for several years some floors had to be shared with Earth Sciences and Zoology. In the same year a new Chair was appointed, D S Y Tong, the first graduate from the Department to take up this position. David Tong, who had done his doctorate at the University of California at Davis, came to us from the University of Wisconsin at Milwaukee where he had built a reputation as an authority on surface physics. He rapidly built up a state of the art surface physics facility that is the basis of a major research effort in the Department at the present. He was followed by a quintet of young rising stars, in 1994, J Wang (Peking and Pennsylvania) a condensed matter theorist and H S Wu (Fudan and Montana State) a surface physics experimentalist; in 1996, H F Chau (a HKU Ph.D. with postdoc experience at Illinois and The Institute for Advanced Study at Princeton) a multitalented theorist, and in 1998, F C C Ling, with a doctorate from the Department in positron condensed matter physics and M H Xie (Tianjin and London) a surface-science experimentalist. 

Peter Fung retired, or, rather, left the Department, in the summer of 1999, only to take up the first Chair of Medical Physics in the University and continue his researches in the Medical Faculty.  Kevin MacKeown saw out the millennium, retiring in the summer of 2000 to join the beachcombers on Lantau, the first Fellow of the Institute of Physics among their ranks.
Sources and acknowledgements

More effort than I expended in putting together this account would be necessary to do justice to the topic; if I may echo the words of a great English philosopher, Lewis Carroll, which Arthur Lyon made use of to round off his Inaugural:

‘How is bread made?’

‘I know that!’ Alice answered eagerly. ‘You take some flour—’

‘Where do you pick the flower?’ the White Queen asked. ‘In a garden, or in the hedges?’

‘Well, it isn’t picked at all’, Alice explained. ‘It’s ground --’

‘How many acres of ground?’ said the White Queen. ‘You mustn’t leave out so many things.’

In my defence, I can say that one is not much helped by earlier work,  – ‘physics’ is not to be found in the index of Bernard Mellor’s two volume history of the University, The University of Hong Kong (Hong Kong University Press, 1980), neither does Mackey make any mention of it in his account of the Faculty of Engineering in the 50th Anniversary commemoration volume in 1961. It occurs only once in passing in D E Evans’ history of the Faculty of Medicine, Constancy of Purpose (Hong Kong University Press, 1987), while Joe Clark in his history of Engineering at the University in 75 Years of Engineering (Faculty of Engineering, University of Hong Kong, 1988), naturally, concentrates mostly on the Engineering aspects of the Faculty. Apart from the canonical papers, University Calendars, Vice-Chancellors’ Reports, The Gazette, and the like, I did find helpful various essays in University of Hong Kong - The First 50 Year, edited by Brian Harrison (Hong Kong University Press, 1962) and in Science: A Celebration of 50 Years  (Faculty of Science, University of Hong Kong, 1990). The Hong Kong University Students’ Union Magazine and the Hong Kong University Engineering Journal have some useful snippets. Professor Faid’s life in Camp is described by Jean Gittins (nee Ho-Tung) who was a good friend of the Faids and lived with them in the Stanley Camp, in Stanley: Behind Barbed Wire (Hong Kong University Press, 1982). A considerable archive of mostly formal documents from the pre-war era is held in the Registry, but they have little to say about Physics – I’m grateful to Ms Veronica Ho for her assistance in consulting these papers. In addition I have had valuable communications from several people formerly associated with the Department, especially Alan Lee, Ng Leung Kai and Oulton Walker. Others who have volunteered information include Dr John Campbell, Canterbury, Mrs D A Collins and Dr Caroline Pluss; to all mentioned I’m very grateful.
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 Staff with graduating students of 1979. Front row: Kevin MacKeown, L K Ng, Harry Coxell, Enoch Young, Oulton Walker, Doug Newman, Peter Fung, Robert Yu, Dave Healey, Yu Win Yin, Terry Boyce.








Fig. 20


Teaching, secretarial and technical staff in 1989. Mike Reid is third from right in the back row, K S Cheng fourth from left in the front row while Steve Fung and Chris Beling are at the extreme right of the front and middle row respectively.








Fig. 21





Fig. 22








�  This is how it is recorded in the University Calendar, but there is some ambiguity as to who was the first professor of physics. Middleton-Smith, reminiscing in the HKU Engineering Journal in 1934, states that Matthewman became Professor of Physics in September 1913  (presumably in the Engineering Faculty only). If he did hold this position, and thus deserves the title of the first physics professor in the University, it was only for a year, for by 1914  he had been appointed to the first Chair in Electrical Engineering in the University and Warren appointed as Professor of Physics in all three faculties. Elsewhere Warren, occupant of the Ellis Kadoorie Chair from 1914 to 1918, is spoken of as the ‘first professor of physics’.





� Other than the listings in the Calendar I can find no mention of this endowed Chair in University documents. The only other acknowledgement of its existence is a reference to it in an obituary for Sir Ellis Kadoorie in the Jewish Chronicle, London, in 1923.





� Although he is arguably the most distinguished holder of the Chair of Physics to date, I have found no significant reference to him in the University beyond the bald entries in the Calendar.





� The waters are further muddied by the fact that the Calendar for 1941, and all subsequent Calendars up to 1967 when the practice of listing all alumni was discontinued, list a B.Sc. graduate of 1940, different from the recognized graduate of 1941.














Appendix 1.





A biographical index of all academic staff (at the level of full-time demonstrator or above) employed to teach physics in the University. Other than universities in Hong Kong, denoted by abbreviations, all other institutes are spelt out in full notwithstanding familiar canonical abbreviations, for consistency. Qualifications listed, as far as possible, correspond to those held at departure from the University, or current. 





Beling, C D, M.A. (Oxford); Ph.D.(London); M.Inst.P.: Lecturer 1987-99, Senior Lecturer 1999 -.


Blundell, Mary Miss, B.Sc.(Hons.) (Manchester): Assistant Lecturer 1958-59, Lecturer 1959-61.


Bones, R A, B.Sc., Ph.D.(London); A.Inst.P.: Lecturer 1955-58.


Boyce, Terence Charles, Ph.D. (Bath); Grad.Inst.P.: Assistant Lecturer 1969-70, Lecturer 1970-.


Chan Chau Lam, B.Sc.(Eng.) (H.K.): Demonstrator 1920-28.


Chan Wing To: Demonstrator 1918-20.


Chan Yin Lui (陈 燕 录), Yinia, B.Sc.(H.K.): Demonstrator 1966-67.


Chan Tin (陈 田), B.Sc.(H.K.): Demonstrator 1966-68.


Chan Yau Wah   (陈 耀 华), B.Sc. (Lingnan): Demonstrator 1953-58.


Chang Tseng-Hsu, James (章 曾 煦), B.S.(Columbia); Ph.D.(California Institute Technology): Lecturer 1965-69.


Chau Hoi Fung (周 海 峰), B.Sc., Ph.D. (H.K.); M.I.E.E.E.: Lecturer 1996-.


Chau Wai Yin (周 威 彦 ), B.Sc.(HK); Ph.D.(Columbia): Professor and Head of 　Department 1990-92.


Chen, Philip: Demonstrator 1966-67.


Chen Shu Chi, B.Sc. (Fudan); Ph.D. (H.K.): Demonstrator 1984-85.


Cheng Kwong Sang (郑 广 生), B.Sc. (CUHK); M.Phil., Ph.D. (Colombia): Lecturer 1988-92, Senior Lecturer 1992-94, Reader 1994-1999, Professor 1999- , Head of Department 2000-.


Cheng Pak Tim (郑 伯 添), B.Sc.(Special) (H.K.): Demonstrator 1977-78.


Chesterman, William Deryck, D.Sc.(Bristol); F.Inst.P.; F.R.P.S.: Professor and Head of Department 1961-66.


Chiang, K E , B.Sc.(National Normal, Peking): Demonstrator 1960-62.


Chik Kin Pong (戚 建 邦), B.Sc.(Hons)(H.K.): Demonstrator 1958-61.


Closs, Robert Loudon (Tim), M.Sc.(Canterbury and Manchester): Lecturer 1964-68.


Cook, E O, M.Sc., D.Phil(Oxford): Lecturer 1946-48.


Coxell, Harry, B.Sc., Ph.D. (Durham): Lecturer 1972-94.


Davies, D F, B.Sc.(London); M.A.(Oxford); F.Inst.P.: Lecturer 1928-45, Professor and Head of Department 1947-52.


Faid, William, M.Sc.(Durham): Professor and Head of Department 1924-44.


Florance, David C H, M.A., M.Sc.(Canterbury College): Professor and Head of Department 1919-23.


Fung Chin Wan, Peter (冯 晋 云),  B.Sc., Ph.D. (Tasmania); M.Inst.P: Lecturer 1970-75, Senior Lecturer 1975-80, Reader 1980-84, Professor 1984-99, Head of Department 1989-90, 1992-94.


Fung, Stevenson (冯汉源), M.A., D.Phil., D.Sc.(Oxford); C.Phys.; F.Inst.P.: Lecturer 1988-97, Senior Lecturer 1997-2000, Reader 2000-.


Gao Ju (高 炬), B.Sc.(Peking); M.Sc. (Academica Sinica); Ph.D. (Twente): Lecturer 1992-.


Healey, David, B.Sc., Ph.D. (London); F.G.A.: Lecturer 1969-95.


Hui Pak Mi (许伯眉), B.A. (HK); Ph.D (London); A.Inst.P.: Demonstrator 1933-49, Assistant Lecturer 1949-53, Lecturer 1953-63,Senior Lecturer 1963-66.


Ip Hung Hoe (叶 孔 浩), B.Sc.(Eng.) (H.K.): Demonstrator 1949-52.


Kwan Sik Hung (关锡鸿), B.Sc.(Hons)(H.K.): Demonstrator 1958-60.  


Lam, C M, B.Sc. (Lingnan):Demonstrator 1952-53.


Lam Sheung Tsing (林 尚 正), B.Sc.(H.K.): Demonstrator 1960-61.


Lao Chia Ching (劳 师 兄), B.Sc.(St. Johns); Cert.Ed.(H.K.): Demonstrator 1961-65, Lecturer 1968-71.


Lau Kai Sui (柳 启 瑞), B.Sc.(Special) (H.K.): Demonstrator 1970-??


Lau Shun Yin, B.Sc(C.U.H.K.); B.Sc.(Special), M.Phil.(H.K.): Demonstrator 1975-76.


Lee, Alan Hinglun  (李庆 麟), B.A.(International Christian, Tokyo): Demonstrator 1960-64.


Leung Che Lai, B.Sc.(H.K.): Demonstrator 1960-62.


Leung Chu Yu (梁 祖煜), B.Sc.(Eng.)(London):Demonstrator 1959-62.


Li Kai Yeung, Demonstrator 1955-57.


Ling Chi Chung (凌 志 聪), Francis, B.Sc., M.Phil., Ph.D. (H.K.): Assistant Lecturer 1998-2000, Lecturer 2000-.


Ling Chun Pao Miss, B.Sc. (Chiao Tung): Demonstrator 1948-53.


Lyon, Arthur James, M.A., Ph.D. (Edinburgh); F.Inst.P: Professor and Head of Department 1967-77.


Ma H K, John, B.Sc.(New South Wales): Demonstrator 1970-72


Ma Pao Chen Miss, B.Sc.(Sun Yat-sen); M.Sc.(Brown): Assistant Lecturer 1954-56.


MacKeown, Patrick Kevin, B.Sc. (National University Ireland); Ph.D. (Durham); F.Inst.P.: Lecturer 1970-88, Reader 1988-2000.


Matthewman, T H, M.Eng. ; AMIEE: Lecturer 1912-13, (Professor 1913-14?).


McLean, Ian Waymouth, B.Sc.(Hons.) (Adelaide); A.Inst.P: Lecturer 1958-70.


Newman, Douglas John, B.Sc., Ph.D., D.Sc. (London); A.R.C.S.; F.Inst.P.: Professor and Head of Department 1979-89.


Ng Leung Kai (吴 良 溪), MSc (H.K.); Ph.D.(British Columbia): Demonstrator 1961-64, Lecturer 1969-81, Senior Lecturer 1981-84, Reader 1984-93.


Parsons, Ralph Whaddon, B.E. (Adelaide); D.Phil. (Oxford); F.S.A.S.M.; F.Inst.P.: Professor and Head of Department 1954-59.


Reid, Michael F, B.Sc., M.Sc., Ph.D. (Canterbury): Lecturer 1985-92. 


Rivers, David George, M.Sc. (London); Ph.D.(Durham); A.Inst.P.: Lecturer 1969-72.


Seutter, Sean M, BSEE, MSEE, Ph.D. (Minnesota): Lecturer 1997-98.


Shum Dick Huk, Grad. Dip.(Peking): Demonstrator 1967- 69.


Silverston, Derek Anthony, B.Sc.(Exeter); Ph.D.(Edinburgh); A.Inst.P.: Lecturer 1961-62.


Sivaprasad, K, M.Sc. (Madras): Demonstrator 1969-70.


St. Quinton, John Michael Paul, B.Sc., Ph.D.(Leeds): Lecturer 1963-65.


Tam Chi Hung, Grad. Dip.(Wah Chung): Demonstrator 1966-67.


Tan Lun Chang ( 谭伦昌), B.Sc. (Tsinghua); Ph.D. (H.K.): Demonstrator 1984-85.


Ting Sui Din, B.Sc.(Special) (H.K.): Demonstrator 1966-69.


Tong Suk Yin (唐 叔 贤), David, B.Sc.(H.K.); M.Sc., Ph.D.(California): Professor  1994-2001, Head of Department 1994-2000.


Un Po (袁保), M.B.E.; B.Sc. (H.K.): Demonstrator 1920-48, Assistant Lecturer 1948-53, Lecturer 1953-59, Acting Head of Department 1952-54.


Walker, George Oulton, M.Sc. (Leeds); A.Inst.P.: Lecturer 1962-68, Senior Lecturer 1967-92, Reader 1992-93.


Wang Chia Ping (汪 佳 平), B.Sc.(London); M.Sc., Ph.D.(Malaya); A.Inst.P.: Lecturer 1960-61, Senior Lecturer 1961-63.


Wang Jian (王 健), B.Sc. (Peking); Ph.D. (Pennsylvania): Lecturer 1994-.


Wang Tze Sum (王 泽 森), B.Sc. (Eng.) (H.K.):Demonstrator 1948-51.


Wang Zi Dan (汪 子丹), B.Sc. (Science&Technology); M.Sc., Ph.D. (Nanjing): Lecturer 1992-97, Senior Lecturer 1997-2000, Reader 2000-.


Warren, Arthur George, B.Sc.(Eng.) (London); AMIEE: Lecturer 1913-14, Professor and Head of Department 1914-19.


Watt Chi Yan, James (屈志仁), B.A.(Oxford): Demonstrator 1960-64.


Woo, K L, B.Sc.(Lingnan): Demonstrator 1959-60.


Wong How Kin (黄 孝 建), B.Sc.(H.K.): Demonstrator 1964-67.


Wong, M P, B.Sc.(Eng.) (North West Technical College): Demonstrator 1968-69.


Wong, S C, B.Sc., Ph.D.(London): Demonstrator 1958-59.


Wong Wing Hong, B.Sc.(Special) (H.K.): Demonstrator 1970-71.


Wu Huasheng (吴 华 生 ), B.S., M.S. (Fudan); Ph.D. (Montana State): Lecturer 1994-.


Wu King Ching, B.A. (West China Union); M.S. (Yenching); Ph.D. (Toronto): Assistant Lecturer 1953.


Wu, K C Mrs,  M.S. (Cornell): Demonstrator 1952-54.


Xie Mao Hai (谢 茂 海), B.Eng.(Tianjin); M.Sc. (Academica Sinica); Ph.D., D.I.C. (London): Lecturer 1997-.


Yau Kin Lun, B.Sc.(Special) (H.K.); Grad.Inst.P.: Demonstrator 1966-67.


Young Chien Ming, Enoch ( 杨健明) , B.Sc.(Special) (H.K.); Ph.D. (Bristol); F.Inst.P.; F.R.A.S.: Demonstrator 1963-??, Lecturer 1968-82, Senior Lecturer 1982-88.


Yu Ming Lun, B.Sc.(Special) (H.K.): Demonstrator 1969-70.


Yu Miu (于淼), Robert, B.Sc.(Special) (H.K.); Ph.D. (Bristol); M.Inst.P.; F.G.A.: Demonstrator 1961-62, 1963-64, Lecturer 1967-84.


Yu Wing Yin (余 永 贤), B.Sc. (H.K.); M.S., Ph.D. (Oregon); M.Inst.P.: Lecturer 1979-85.


Yue Shui Chiu ( 余 瑞 朝), B.Sc(Eng.) (H.K.): Demonstrator 1939-41, 1951-55.


Yui, A K M, B.Sc.(H.K.): Demonstrator 1962-63.








Temporary and Part-time Lecturers


Chan Hung Wai, Moses, BA (Bridgewater); M.Sc. (Cornell): 1969-70.


Kennedy, Robin John, B.Sc., Ph.D.(Canterbury): 1984-85.


Lam Chiu Ying (林 超 英), B.Sc.(Special) (H.K.); M.Sc. (London): D.I.C.: 1982-93.


Lao Chia Ching (劳 师 兄), B.Sc.(St. Johns); Cert.Ed.(H.K.): 1965-68.


Lee Siu Kong, B.Sc.(Sun Yat-sen); M.Sc.(Lingnan): 1950.


Tsao, Alexander Dajuin, B.Sc., M.Sc.(St. Johns): 1951-52.


Wang Chia Ping (汪 佳 平),  M.Sc., Ph.D.(Malaya); A.Inst.P.: 1959.


Wu King Ching, B.A. (West China Union); M.S. (Yenching); Ph.D. (Toronto): 1952-53.


Yeung Kai Hing (杨 继 兴), B.Sc.(Special) (H.K.): 1982-93.


Yu Wing Yin (余 永 贤), B.Sc. (H.K.); M.S., Ph.D. (Oregon); M.Inst.P.: 1977-79.
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Appendix 2.





Staff in the department after the setting up of the Faculty in 1939, broken down into those at the assistant lecturer and above and full time demonstrators. Such demonstrators played an important role in the early years of the University.
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Appendix 3 .


Departmental Publications


These are publications by members of the Department, as recorded in the Vice Chancellor’s Report, later in the Gazette, without distinction of mainstream papers and conference reports. Although Hui Pak Mi coauthored a paper in Proc. Phys. Soc. in 1949, while working on his Ph.D. research, there is no indication in it of his affiliation with the University. The first listed paper was a review by Parsons in the Proceedings of the Engineering Society of Hong Kong, Volume 8, in 1955. The first refereed paper was by Hu (Hui) and Parsons in the Review of Scientific Instruments in 1957. It is probable that not all publications were submitted to the Gazette, so there are probably some others to be traced. Mention should also be made of the Ionospheric Data Bulletin giving hourly values of measured ionospheric parameters at Hong Kong, 44 issues were published at various times between 1969 and 1977, and of Geomagnetic Data, an annual publication in conjunction with the Royal Observatory, giving tables of local geomagnetic parameters of which seven issues appeared between 1972 and 1978.
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